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LIPEZ, Crcuit Judge. Followng a three-day trial, a

jury convicted defendant-appell ant Roldy Francois ("Francois") on
four counts of possessing firearns as a convicted fel on, one count
of possessing a firearm with an obliterated serial nunber, and
twel ve counts stemmng from his use of a stolen identity to
purchase those firearnms. Following his conviction, the district
court sentenced Francois to a term of 164 nonths. Francoi s
appeal s, asserting that the district court (1) abused its
di scretion when it denied his notion for a third court-appointed
attorney; (2) failed to adequately warn hi mabout the consequences
of proceeding pro se; (3) erred ininstructing the jury on the use
of flight evidence; (4) abused its discretionin failing to conduct
an evidentiary hearing on his notion to suppress. Francois also
clains that his sentences on counts 10-13 exceed the statutory
maxi mum

For the reasons explained below, we affirm Francois's
conviction. The governnent agrees, correctly, that the sentences
on counts 10-13 do exceed the statutory maxi nrum Hence, we renmand
for resentencing.

| . Backgr ound

I n review ng Francoi s's conviction, we consider the facts
established at trial in the light nost favorable to the jury's

verdict. United States v. Gdinez-Rosario, 418 F.3d 90, 93 (1st Gir.

2005) .



A. Facts

On March 27, 2009, a young governnment enployee naned
Efrain Baez reported that a briefcase containing his social
security card and birth certificate had been stolen. For nore than
a year, Baez knew not hing about the fate of his stol en docunents.
Unbeknownst to Baez, less than a nonth after his docunents were
stolen, his identity would be appropriated by Roldy Francois, a
convicted felon living in Rhode Island.

On April 23, 2009, the state of Florida issued Francois
a driver's license in Baez's nane but bearing a picture of
Francois. Francois proceeded to use Baez's identity on at | east
four occasions to purchase guns fromDave's Guns, a firearns deal er
i n Rhode |sland. Wen purchasing each of these firearns, Francois
identified hinmself as "Efrain Baez" on ATF Form 4473 and certified
that he had never been convicted of a felony.! Evidence in the
record indicates that Francois also identified hinself as Efrain

Baez when he was cited for speeding, that he used Baez's identity

! ATF Form 4473, or a "Firearns Transfer Record,"” is a form
filled out in the course of an over-the-counter purchase of a
firearm The form requires the purchaser to provide identity
information and allows the dealer to initiate a National Instant
Crim nal Background Check System search. The Gun Control Act of
1968, 18 U.S.C. 88 921-930, requires gun dealers to keep records of
the information collected by neans of ATF Form 4473 for 20 years
and nake themavail abl e for inspection to ATF agents upon request.
See United States v. Lewis, 517 F.3d 20, 22 n.1 (1st Gr. 2008);
Borchart Rifle Corp. v. Cook, 684 F.3d 1037, 1039 (10th G r. 2012).
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at a firing range, and that he assunmed Baez's identity in sone
soci al situations.

Francois continued to use Baez's identity with inpunity

until early 2010, when an ill-fated attenpt to dupe the police put
an end to his charade. |In February 2010, two of the guns Francois
had illegally purchased at Dave's Guns were stolen fromhis car.

On February 16, 2010, Francois went to the Providence Police
Departnent acconpanied by his girlfriend and his private attorney
to report the theft. Wien he arrived at the station, Francois
identified hinself as "Efrain Baez."

Unfortunately for Francois, the detective assigned to
take his report had encountered Francois in the course of
Francois's previous crimnal activities. Detective Maurice G een
("Detective Geen") testified at trial that he recogni zed Francoi s

"as soon as he wal ked in the door," but could not i medi ately pl ace
him Geen also thought it was "odd" that sonmeone would bring an
attorney with him to the station to report a crinme, and his
suspi cions were further aroused because "there was sonething very
wong wth [Francois's] entire story.” Nevertheless, Geen took
Francoi s's report, and Francois |eft the station w thout incident.

Convi nced that he had encountered Francois before,
Detective Geen reviewed his old case files and di scovered that the

man who had identified hinself as Efrain Baez was, in fact, Roldy

Francoi s. Wth this information, Detective Geen immediately



contacted Immgration and Custons Enforcenent ("ICE') and the
Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco, Firearns, and Expl osives ("ATF").

Law enforcenent agents initially attenpted to apprehend
Francois at 148 Hudson Street in Providence, the address Francois
had gi ven Detective Geen during their February 16 interview. Upon
arrival at that address, however, the police were told by
Francois's girlfriend that he had noved and left no forwarding
address. After this initial setback, |awenforcenent officers were
unable to locate Francois for several weeks until they received a
tip that Francois was residing at 44 Taylor Street in Providence.

Early in the norning of March 16, 2010, a teamof fully
armed and uniformed Providence police officers, ATF agents, and
United States Mrshals approached the three-story apartnent
bui l ding at 44 Taylor Street. The Marshals knocked on the exterior
door, identified thensel ves as | aw enforcenment officers, and told
t he residents who answered that they were there to arrest Francois.
When Deputy O ficer Brian McDonald ("Officer McDonal d') showed the
resi dents a phot ograph of Francois, one resident pointed his finger
toward the ceiling and nouthed the word "up."

Taking this to nean Francois was upstairs, Oficer
McDonal d proceeded to the third fl oor, where he observed an openi ng
in the ceiling, which revealed a small, unfinished attic.
Suspecting that Francois was hiding in the attic, Oficer MDonald

identified hinself as a U S. Marshal and announced that he had a



warrant for the arrest of Roldy Francois, also known as Efrain
Baez. In response, Francois noved toward the opening, allow ng
Oficer McDonald to confirmvisually that the man in the attic was
i ndeed Francois. Oficer MDonal d observed Francois | ying prone in
the attic clutching a dark, sem -automatic handgun to his chest.
At that point, Francois announced "that he was not going to jail,
that he was in possession of a gun and no attenpts should be nmade
to remove himfromthe attic.'

Oficer MDonald quickly alerted his fellow |[|aw
enf orcenment agents that Franci os was arned, and called for a back-
up Special Wapons and Tactics ("SWAT") team A tense, six-hour
stand-of f between Francois and | aw enforcenent ensued. Severa
times during the stand-off, Francois threatened to shoot either one
of the officers or hinself. Finally, late in the afternoon,
Francoi s surrendered peacefully and was taken into custody.

B. Pre-Trial Proceedings

A federal grand jury returned a seventeen-count
i ndi ctment, charging Francois wth four counts of being a felon in
possession of a firearmin violation of 18 U S.C. 88 922(g)(1) and
924(a)(2), one count of being in possession of a firearmwth an
obliterated serial number in violation of 18 U . S.C. 88 922(k) and
924(a)(1)(B), four counts of mking false statenents in the
purchase of firearnms in violation of 18 U S.C. 88 922(a)(6) and

924(a)(2), four counts of possession of an identity docunent with
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intent to defraud the United States in violation of 18 U S.C. 88
1028(a)(4) and (b)(1), and four counts of using an identification
docunment with intent to defraud the United States in violation of
18 U.S.C. 88 1028A(a)(1).

Fromthe outset, Francois's relationships with his court
appoi nted attorneys were acrinonious. The <court initially
appointed Attorney Mary June Ciresi ("Cresi") to represent
Francois, but relations between the two deteriorated quickly.
After only a few weeks of representation, Francois filed a
conplaint against Cresi wth the disciplinary commttee of the
Rhode Island bar, and Ciresi noved to withdraw. After a hearing,
the district court granted the notion to withdraw, and appointed
Francois a second attorney, WlliamD mtri ("Dmtri").

Equally uninpressed with Dimtri, Francois asked the
court in August to appoint him yet a third attorney. At the
hearing on his notion for new appoi nted counsel, Francois stated
that he and Dimtri were having "a problem of conmmunication.”
Francois explained further that "[t]his is ny first tinme in the
federal system I'"'m not quite understanding properly the whole
scenario of the sentencing guidelines.” Francois also accused
Dimtri of focusing exclusively on "the worst case scenario.”

The district court di sagr eed wth Francoi s's

characterization of his relationship with Dmtri. In rejecting



Francois's notion for a third appointed counsel, the court
reasoned:
| don't see any substantive disagreenment here. It just
seens to ne | i ke he's giving you advice, it's been pretty
good advi ce, and you haven't really |liked the advice .
| get the sense you think sonebody else is going to
give you different advice or file different things for
you. | just don't think that's going to happen.
Two nonths later, Francois again noved to termnate his
relationship with Dmtri. In support of this notion, Francois

sent the court a letter addressed to Dimtri in which Francois

st at ed:
| [] feel Iike you are losing faith in this case perhaps
because you can't win this case. . . . You are proceedi ng
to handle ny case as one that will end up as a guilty
plea. . . . You refuse to put in notions for anything.

You refuse to accept ny calls. . . . [Y]ou are taking
me as anot her body to be delivered to the federal system
[ Al]s of now you are fired.

At the Cctober hearing on this second notion, Dimtri
told the court that Francois "want[ed] to kill the nessenger”
rather than accept the truth of his circunstances. Dmtri
asserted that he had met with Francois at |east four tines, taken
many phone calls fromFrancois and his wi fe, and conducted research
on the notions that Francois had asked himto file to confirmhis
initial suspicion that they had no nerit. The district court again
concl uded that Francois was not entitled to a third court-appointed

attorney, explaining that "M. Dmtri is one of the nost able
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crimnal defense attorneys in the State of Rhode Island . . . You
don't like what [Dimtri's] opinion indicates. But that's not a
conpel ling reason for me to grant your notion to change counsel."

Nevert hel ess, Francoi s conti nued to voice hi s
di ssatisfactionwith DDmtri and continued his attenpts to file pro
se notions with the court. Shortly before jury inpanel nent,
Francois urged the court to allow himto proceed pro se. After
inform ng Francois that he had a right to represent hinself, the
court told Francois that:

| have an obligation to tell you that | think that is a

terrible idea, and | think you would be naking a
catastrophic mstake to -- by representing yourself in
this trial. But I can't stop you fromdoing it. Al |

can do is tell you that | think it would be a very bad
idea, and it would be very detrinental to your interests

inreceiving a fair trial inthis case. . . . One way or
the other we're going to inpanel the jury here this
af t er noon.

After reiterating that it would be a "very bad decision” for
Francois to represent hinself, the court acquiesced to Francois
proceedi ng pro se and appointed Dimtri to act as standby counsel.
The court advised Francois that he could informthe court at any
nmonment of his wish to revoke his waiver, and Dimtri would step in
as his attorney. The court also cautioned Francois that he would
receive no extensions of time, and that he would need to be
prepared for trial 20 days hence.

Francois filed several pre-trial notions pro se,

i ncluding a notion to suppress the statenents he made to Detective
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Green during their interview at the Providence Police Station on
February 16, 2010, in which Francois had identified hinself falsely
as Efrain Baez. Francois argued that the statenments he made to
Det ecti ve Green shoul d be suppressed on a theory that the interview
was a custodial interrogation requiring a Mranda warning. After
a hearing, the district court denied both Francois's notion to
suppress these statenments and his further request for an
evidentiary hearing to determ ne whether or not he was objectively
reasonable in feeling he was not free to | eave the interview.
C. Trial

At trial, Francois initially appeared pro se, delivering
hi s own openi ng st atenent and nmaki ng obj ections to the governnment's
direct examnation of its first wtness. In fact, one of
Francois's three objections to this wtness's testinony was
sustai ned. After beginning his cross-exam nation of the w tness,
however, Francois decided that he could no |onger continue to
represent hinself and accepted representation by DDmtri. D mtri
then stepped in and represented Francois for the rest of the
pr oceedi ng. At a later point in the trial, Francois asked the
court if he could once again proceed pro se, but the court denied
t hat noti on.

Before the jury began its deliberations, and over the
objection of Francois, the district court provided the jury with

the follow ng instruction on howto use evidence of flight:
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Now, intentional flight by a defendant after he is
accused of a crinme for which he is now on trial my be
considered by you in light of all the other evidence in
the case. The burden is upon the Governnent to prove
intentional flight. Intentional flight after the
defendant is accused of a crinme is not al one sufficient
to conclude that he is guilty. Flight does not create a
presunption of guilt. At nost, it may provide the basis
for an inference of consciousness of guilt. But flight

may not always reflect feelings of gquilt. Mor eover,
feelings of guilt, which are present in many innocent
peopl e, do not necessarily reflect actual guilt. |In your

consideration of the evidence of flight, you should
consider that there nay be reasons for the Defendant's
actions that are fully consistent with innocence. It is
up to you as nenbers of the jury to determ ne whether or
not evidence of the intentional flight shows a
consci ousness of guilt and the weight or significance to
be attached to any such evi dence.

The jury returned a verdict convicting Francois on all
sevent een counts of the indictnent. Follow ng his conviction, the
district court sentenced Francois to a total of 164 nonths
i mpri sonmnent.

1. Francois's Sixth Armendnent C ains

Francois advances two interrelated Sixth Anmendnent
claims. First, Francois argues that his Sixth Amendnent right to
effective assistance of counsel was viol ated when the court deni ed
his notion for new appoi nted counsel and thereby forced Francois
into what he characterizes as a "Hobson's Choice" between
proceeding with ineffective counsel or proceeding pro se. Second,

Francoi s argues that his decision to waive his right to counsel was

not intelligent because the court failed to warn him about the
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consequences of proceeding pro se as required by the Suprene
Court's opinion in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).
A. Francois's Mdition for New Appoi nted Counsel

Though the right to counsel is fundanental, the right of
an indigent crimnal defendant to demand new appoi nted counsel is
not unlimted. "[I]n appropriate circunstances, a trial court may
force a defendant to choose between proceeding to trial with an

unwanted attorney and representing hinself.” United States .

Proctor, 166 F.3d 396, 402 (1st Cir. 1999). 1In review ng whether
it was appropriate for the trial court to inpose that choice, we

rely on the three factors laid out in United States v. Allen, 789

F.2d 90, 92 (1st Gr. 1986): "(1) the tineliness of the notion; (2)
t he adequacy of the court's inquiry into the defendant's conpl ai nt;
and (3) whether the conflict between the defendant and his counsel
was so great that it resulted in a total lack of conmrunication

preventing an adequate defense." United States v. Hi cks, 531 F.3d

49, 54-55 (1st Gr. 2008). Qur reviewis for abuse of discretion.

United States v. Meyers, 294 F.3d 203, 207 (1st Cr. 2002).

Because Francoi s's notions for new appoi nted counsel were
all tinmely, we begin wth the second prong of the Allen analysis --
the adequacy of the inquiry into Francois's conplaints about
Dmtri. The court conducted two pre-trial hearings on Francois's

nmotions for new appointed counsel and issued a separate witten
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ruling foll owi ng each hearing? |n each hearing and i n each order,
the district court carefully exam ned Francois's conplaints and
concl uded that the source of Francois's disappointnent with Dimtri
was not any |ack of conpetence on Dimtri's part, but rather was
Francois's refusal to accept Dimtri's accurate assessnent of
Francoi s's predi canent. The district court's inquiry was nore than
adequate. Indeed, the district court endured Francois's repeated
conplaints with commendabl e pati ence.

Moving to the third prong of the Allen inquiry, we assess
whet her there is evidence on the record that the attorney-client
rel ati onship had so deteriorated that there existed a "total |ack
of conmuni cation preventing an adequate defense."” Allen, 789 F.2d
at 92. The pre-trial hearing transcripts leave little doubt that
Francois did not like DDmtri's legal opinions or tactics. There
is no evidence, however, that the parties were not conmmunicating
with each other or that Dmtri was in any way neglecting his
responsi bilities. In fact, at the January 2011 hearing, both
parties made it clear that they had been communi cating regul arly.
Dmtri told the court that he had already net with Francois in
person "a mnimumof nine to ten tinmes" in addition to many phone
conversations. Francois estimated that they had net "four tinmes"

in person and described several phone conversations. | ndeed,

2 The court also conducted a hearing on Francois's notion to
replace his first appointed counsel, Ciresi
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Francois's litany of conplaints about Dimtri all belie the fact
that the pair were in frequent comruni cation during the pre-trial
peri od.

Francois sinply did not |ike what he was hearing during
t hose communi cations. Specifically, he did not |ike hearing that
t he notions he wanted Dimtri to file were frivol ous; that he would
al nost certainly be convicted and shoul d accept a pl ea bargain; and
that the "worst case scenario” sentence he could receive if
convicted woul d be severe. In other words, Francois's conplaints
reflect his disdain for DDmtri's advice, but none of Francois's
conplaints indicate that the two were so unabl e to comruni cat e t hat
Dmtri could not present an "adequate defense" on Francois's

behalf. See United States v. Pierce, 60 F.3d 886, 891 (1st Cr.

1995) (finding no irreversible breakdown where defendant and
attorney had "sone appreciation for the other's opinions and

sensibilities"); United States v. Machor, 879 F.2d 945, 952 (1st

Cr. 1989) (noting that in reviewing the third prong of the Alen
anal ysis, "one should bear in mnd that the right to counsel does
not involve the right to a 'neaningful relationship" between an
accused and his counsel ") (quoting Morris v. Slappy, 461 U S. 1, 14
(1983)).

For these reasons, we conclude that the district court
did not abuse its discretion in denying Francois's notions to

replace Dimtri with new appoi nted counsel .
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B. Francois's Wiver O Hs Right to Counse

"Because of the disadvantages to a defendant that inure
from pro se representation, a defendant nust 'know ngly and
intelligently’ waive his right to counsel before he may be

permtted to proceed pro se.” United States v. Kneel and, 148 F. 3d

6, 11 (1st G r. 1998) (quoting Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U. S. 458,
464-65 (1938)). As such, when a defendant seeks to proceed pro se,
the trial judge nmust determ ne whether the defendant's waiver is
"intelligent and conpetent." Proctor, 166 F.3d at 402. I n
di scharging this responsibility, the trial judge nust keep in m nd
t he strong presunption agai nst wai ver and "'investigate as | ong and
as thoroughly as the circunstances of the case before hi mdemand."'"

Id. (quoting Von Moltke v. Gllies, 332 U.S. 708, 723-24 (1948)).

As part of the inquiry into whether the defendant's waiver is
intelligent, the trial judge nmust warn the defendant "of the
dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, so that the
record will establish that '[the defendant] knows what he is doing
and his choice is made with eyes open.'"ld. at 401 (quoting

Faretta, 422 U S. at 835); see also Maynard v. Meachum 545 F.2d

273, 279 (1st Cr. 1976) ("[T]he accused should have a general

appreci ation of the seriousness of the charge and of the penalties
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he nmay be exposed to before deciding to take a chance on his own
skill.").?

Francoi s al l eges that his decision to proceed pro se was
not made "intelligently" because the court failed to adequately
warn him of the dangers of proceeding pro se. | ndeed, the

gover nment conceded at oral argunent that "ideally" the court would
have been nore detailed in its warning. Although the court did
tell Francois that self-representation would be a "terrible idea"
and a "catastrophic mstake," the court did not go beyond these
dire generalizations to give a specific exanpl e of the consequences
of self-representation that m ght enhance a | ayman's under st andi ng
of the significance of the decision to proceed w thout counsel.
For exanple, the court did not explain that the defendant m ght
have defenses that only a | awer would appreciate. Phrases |ike
"catastrophic mstake" do not convey in concrete terns the
sentenci ng range Francois would |likely face if he were convicted,
and the judge did not explain that he could not give advice or
gui dance during the trial.

Francois's argunent fails to appreciate, however, that
even where the court's Faretta warning is less thorough than it

m ght be, we may nevertheless affirma district court's decisionto

all ow a defendant to proceed pro se if "the record anply supports

® This warning is sonetines called a "Faretta warning" or a
"Faretta inquiry" after the Suprene Court's opinion in Faretta v.
California, 422 U S. 806 (1975).
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the I ower court's conclusion that [the defendant] was fully aware
of the disadvantages he would face as a pro se defendant."
Kneel and, 148 F.3d at 12 (considering defendant's background as a
di sbarred attorney and his conduct at trial in affirmng that
def endant's wai ver of his right to counsel was intelligently made);

see also United States v. LaBare, 191 F.3d 60, 68 (1st Cr. 1999)

(considering defendant's experience as a defendant in previous
crimnal trials as a factor indicating his decision to proceed pro
se was intelligently nade); Maynard, 545 F.2d at 277 (determ ning
that "the absence of explicit bench warnings or a colloquy on the
record" does not conpel a conclusion that defendant's waiver was
i nvalid).

We are satisfied on this record that Francoi s understood
the trial process and was fully aware of the gravity of the charges
facing him Throughout the |l engthy pre-trial proceedi ngs, Francois
was actively involved in preparing for his own defense. At the
various hearings on his many pre-trial notions, the court engaged
in several |engthy discussions with Francois. During each of these
di scussions, Francois was lucid, articulate, and engaged.

Mor eover, the argunments Francoi s made on his own behal f denonstrate
that he had conducted extensive |legal research of his own accord
and was fully aware of the nature of the charges against him

Furthernmore, while the court did not explicitly advise

Francoi s of the consequences he would face if convicted, Francois
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cannot claimthat he was ignorant of the potential punishnment he
faced. The record of the pre-trial proceedings clearly shows that
Francois received advice regarding potential sentences from
Dmtri. Indeed, Francois's distress at DDmtri's assessnent of
the "worst case scenari 0" seens to have been a significant source
of his dissatisfaction with Dimtri. Mor eover, the court did
explain to Francois that the federal sentencing cal cul ations were
conplicated and reiterated several tinmes to Francois that it was
critical that he give careful consideration to his attorney's
assessnment of the possible sentences he could face, rather than
merely attacking his attorney for being the nessenger of bad news.
For these reasons, we conclude that Francois's waiver of
his right to counsel was "intelligent and know ng" and the district
court did not err in allowing himto proceed pro se.
I11. Francois's Additional Challenges to Hs Conviction
Francoi s advances two additional argunents: that the
district court abused its discretion in giving the jury a
consci ousness-of-flight instruction, and that the district court
abused its discretion in denying an evidentiary hearing on
Francois's pro se notion to suppress the statenents he made to
Detective Geenin their initial encounter at the police station.

We consider these argunents in turn.
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A. Flight Instruction
"G ven an adequate factual predicate . . . evidence of a
crimnal defendant's flight is generally thought to be probative of

hi s or her consciousness of guilt." United States v. Benedetti, 433

F.3d 111, 116 (1st Cr. 2005). Were such an "adequate factua
predicate exists,” the district court may instruct the jury that
evidence of flight may indicate a defendant's consciousness of

guilt. See United States v. Cam | o Montoya, 917 F. 2d 680, 683 (1st

Cr. 1990); United States v. Hyson, 721 F.2d 856, 864-65 (1st Cr.

1983). Qur review of the trial court's decision to do so is
deferential, and "[a] district court is afforded considerable
| eeway when det erm ni ng whet her evi dence of a defendant's flight is
acconpani ed by a sufficient factual predicate.” Bendetti, 433 F. 3d
at 116.

Francois's claim that there was an inadequate factua
predi cate for the flight instruction borders on the frivolous. The
governnment presented an abundance of evidence supporting the
i nference that Francois fled to the attic because he was consci ous
of his own guilt. On the day of his arrest, Francois knewthat the
police were | ooking for himbecause -- by his own adm ssion -— he
knew t hat Detective G een had recogni zed hi mwhen he used a stol en
identity to report the theft of his illegally purchased guns.
Wthin days of his interview with Detective Geen, Francois had

packed his belongings and left the apartnent where he had been
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l[iving with no forwarding address. Wen a fully unifornmed and
armed teamof officers finally found Francois at 44 Park Street and
announced their intent to arrest him the Marshals di scovered him
lying prone with a sem -automatic handgun in a small, unfinished
attic that was accessible only by standing on a chair and hoi sting
onesel f through a hole in the ceiling. Such efforts at conceal nent
and evasion are tantamount to flight for the purpose of

consci ousness-of-qguilt instructions. See United States v. Meadows,

571 F.3d 131, 146 (1st Cr. 2009) (upholding adm ssion of
defendant's flight attenpt during a traffic stop because "the fact
that [defendant]'s flight was neither successful nor lengthy is

immaterial to the fact that he chose to flee"); see also United

States v. Wight, 392 F. 3d 1269, 1277 (11th Cr. 2004) ("[E] vi dence

of resisting arrest is probative of [the defendant]'s consci ousness

of guilt.”); United States v. Pallais, 921 F.2d 684, 689-90 (7th

Cr. 1990) (finding testinony indicating that when police sought to
arrest defendant in his hone he hid fromthemin a craw space was
adm ssible to show consci ousness of guilt).

B. The Court's Denial of an Evidentiary Hearing on Francois's
Motion to Suppress

Francoi s's argunent that the court shoul d have conducted
an evidentiary hearing on his notion to suppress is simlarly
hopel ess. "A crim nal defendant does not have a presunptive right

to an evidentiary hearing on a notion to suppress.” United States

v. D Andrea, 648 F.3d 1, 5 (1st Cr. 2011). Rather, "[a] hearing
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isrequiredonly if the novant nakes a sufficient threshold show ng
that material facts are in doubt or dispute, and that such facts
cannot reliably be resolved on a paper record. Mst inportantly,
t he defendant must show that there are factual disputes which, if
resolved in his favor, would entitle himto the requested relief."”

United States v. Staula, 80 F.3d 596, 603 (1st Cr. 1996)

(citations omtted). Qur review is for abuse of discretion.

United States v. Farlow, 681 F.3d 15, 18 (1st Cr. 2012).

Argui ng that he should have been granted an evidentiary
hearing on his notion to suppress the statenents he nmade to
Detective G een during their February 16 i ntervi ew, Francois clai ns
that there was a factual dispute over whether Detective G een
separated Francois and his girlfriend at sonme point during their
interview * Under Francois's theory, resolving this factual
di spute in his favor woul d conpel the court to conclude that he was
objectively reasonable in believing he was not free to end his
intervieww th Detective Green and thus was in custody for Mranda

purposes. See Stansbury v. California, 511 U S. 318, 323 (1994)

(whet her or not custody exists for Mranda purposes "depends on the

obj ective circunstances of the interrogation, not on the subjective

“'n his brief, Francois clains that the governnent also
di sputes the fact that Detective Green spoke to his attorney in the
hal lway while Francois remained in the interview room As the
government assented to this fact during the suppression hearing and
assents to it again on appeal, it is not actually in dispute. Even
if it were it is not material on the facts of this case.
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views harbored by either the interrogating officers or the person
bei ng questioned").

Unfortunately for Francois, his argunent is a non-
starter. Even if this factual dispute were resolved in his favor,
he woul d still have been objectively unreasonable in believing he
was i n custody. Francois cane to the police station on February 16
of his own volition to report that he was the victimof a crine.
He was not physically restrained nor told that he was not free to

| eave. See United States v. Infante, 701 F. 3d 386, 396 (1st Cr.

2012) ("[Whether an individual is in Mranda custody depends on
whet her there is a 'restraint on freedomof novenent of the degree
associated with a formal arrest.'" (quoting Maryland v. Shatzer

130 S.CG. 1213, 1224 (2010))). He was never questioned w thout
his attorney present, and he was never yelled at, threatened, or

badgered. See United States v. Guerrier, 669 F.3d 1, 6 (1st G

2004) (noting that the fact that "[n] o one screaned at [defendant],
badgered hi mfor answers, or nenaced himin any way" i ndi cated t hat
interaction was not a custodial interrogation). At the concl usion
of the interview, Francois casually left the police station a free
man. In sum this scenari o does not even cone close to the type of
custodial interrogation that we have found to require a Mranda
warning. Adding a private interview between Detective G een and

Francois's girlfriend to the m x does not change that outcone.
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The district court did not abuse its discretion in
declining to grant an evidentiary hearing on his notion to
suppr ess.

| V. Sentencing

Francois argues and the governnment concedes that his
sentence on Counts 10-13 of the indictnment was plainly erroneous
because the court used facts not found by the jury to inpose a
sentence greater than the one-year statutory maxi numprovided in 18

US C 8 1028(b)(6). See Cunninghamv. California, 549 U S. 270,

274-75 (2007) ("[T]he Federal Constitution's jury-trial guarantee
proscribes a sentencing schene that allows a judge to inpose a
sentence above the statutory maxi num based on a fact . . . not
found by a jury or admtted by the defendant.").

For his convictions on Counts 10-13, the court sentenced
Francoi s to 140 nonths under 18 U.S. C. 8§ 1028(b) (1), which requires
both a conviction under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1028(a) and a jury finding that
the violation involved the "production or transfer" of a false
identity docunent.® But in this case, both the indictnment and the
jury instructions asked the jury to determ ne only whet her Francoi s

had "possessed" a false identity docunent with intent to defraud,

°® Counts 10-13 of the indictnent charged Francois wth
violating 18 U S C 8§ 1028(a)(4), which provides that anyone

"know ngly possess[ing] an identification docunent . . . or a false
i dentification docunent, with the intent such docunent or feature
be used to defraud the United States . . . shall be punished as

provi ded in subsection b of this section.”
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not whet her he had produced or transferred that identity docunent.
As such, we agree with the parties that inposing an enhanced
sent ence under Section 1028(b)(1) was error. The statutory nmaxi mum
for these counts should have been the one-year statutory maxi num
provided in Section 1028(b)(6), a catchall which applies to
violations of 18 U S C 8§ 1028(a)(4) where the jury makes no
additional findings that special circunstances were present.

The consequences of this error are significant. A brief
review of the "sentencing architecture” of Francois's sentence
denonstrates why vacating the sentence on Counts 10-13 wl|
underm ne the entire sentencing structure crafted by the district
court. Francois was sentenced to concurrent sentences of 140
nmont hs each on Counts 10-13, 120 nont hs each on Counts 1-4 and 6-9,
and 60 nmonths on Count 5. He was al so sentenced to 24 nont hs each
on Counts 14-17, to run concurrently wth each other but
consecutively with his sentences on Counts 1-13. In other words,
hi s sentence on Counts 14-17 required himto serve 24 nonths on top
of the longest terminposed for Counts 1-13 -- which was the 140
nmont hs for Counts 10-13 at issue here — for atotal of 164 nonths.

Francois's 140-nonth sentence on Counts 10-13 was thus
central to the district court's cal culation of Francois's overal
sent enci ng package. As such, we conclude that correcting this
error requires us to vacate his entire sentence and remand for

conpl ete re-sentencing. See United States v. Grcia-Otiz, 657
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F.3d 25, 31 (1st Cr. 2011) ("Wen a defendant successfully
chal l enges one of several interdependent sentences, the proper
course often is to remand for resentencing on the other (non-

vacated) counts."); United States v. Pim enta-Redondo, 874 F.2d 9,

14 (1st Cr. 1989) (en banc) ("[When a defendant is found guilty
on a multicount indictnent . . . [, and] the conviction on one
or nore of the conponent counts is vacated, comobn sense dictates
that the judge should be free to review the efficacy of what
remains in light of the original plan, and to reconstruct the

sentencing architecture upon remand."); see also United States v.

Melvin, 27 F.3d 710, 712 (1st G r. 1994) (noting that the precedent
inthis Crcuit establishes that "an appellate ruling invalidating
a sentence, or reversing on sone, but not all, counts of an
indictment may inplicate the trial judge's conprehensive,
i nterdependent inposition of a penalty and thus require
resentencing on all counts"). W neke no judgnent on the
appropriate outcone of the re-sentencing.
V. Concl usi on
For the reasons explained above, we affirm Francois's
conviction, but vacate his original sentence and remand to the
district court for re-sentencing on all seventeen counts.

So ordered.
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